# The State of South Carolina In The Court of Appeals

---

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

---

Case No. 2017-001348

**RECEIVED**

JUL 12 2017

**SC Court of Appeals**

NATIONWIDE INSURANCE COMPANY  
OF AMERICA,

Respondent,

v.

KRISTINA KNIGHT, Individually and as  
Personal Representative of  
THE ESTATE OF DANIEL KNIGHT,

Appellants.

---

---

## ***INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS***

---

---

Edwin L. Turnage  
HARRIS & GRAVES, P.A.  
812 Laurens Road  
Greenville, SC 29607  
(864) 235-1331

Attorney for Appellants

## **

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Does Respondent's automobile insurance policy, which seeks to exclude all portable UIM and UM coverages to statutory insureds, violate South Carolina public policy?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On February 2, 2016, Danny Knight was killed by a negligent driver in an Anderson County motor vehicle collision.

On July 18, 2016, Respondent sued Appellants seeking a declaration that its policy was not required to provide any coverage to Danny Knight. (*Complaint* Page 4)

On September 29, 2016, Appellants filed an Answer and Counterclaim. Appellants asked the court to declare that Respondent's policy excluding UIM coverage to Danny Knight violated South Carolina public policy and that they were entitled to recovery of the insurance policy limits (\$25,000). (*Answer and Counterclaim* Pages 2, 5)

On October 7, 2016, Respondent filed a reply denying Appellants' counterclaim. (*Plaintiff's Reply to Defendant's Counterclaim*)

On March 9, 2017, Respondent filed a motion for summary judgment. (*Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment*) On April 13, 2017, Appellants filed a motion for summary judgment. (*Motion for Summary Judgment*) On May 22, 2017, the trial court conducted a hearing on the parties' cross motions for summary judgment. On May 26, 2017, the trial court granted Respondent's motion for summary judgment and denied Appellants' motion for summary judgment. (*Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment* at 1)

On June 12, 2017, Appellants filed a notice of appeal. (*Notice of Appeal*).

## **FACTS**

On February 2, 2016, Randy M. Mincey was driving a 2007 Saturn east on Monroe Street in Anderson. Meanwhile, a 1998 Honda motorcycle was traveling north on Market Street. Mincey, inattentive, failed to yield and drove the Saturn onto Market Street and into the path of the motorcycle. The vehicles collided and the motorcycle rider was ejected. His head hit the road surface. The impact caused a severe head injury and death. (*Answer and Counterclaim* at 2) The rider and owner of the motorcycle was Danny Knight, Kristi Knight's husband. (*Death Certificate, Marriage License, Memorial*). The liability carrier for the at-fault driver, and the UIM carriers for Danny's

motorcycle insurance and automobile insurance paid their respective policy limits. (Complaint at 2) Respondent stipulates that the damages exceed the coverage of the policy. (*Stipulation and Agreement*)

Before the fatal collision, Nationwide issued an automobile insurance policy, policy number 6139D 065876, on a 1996 Ford Ranger owned by Kristina Knight (hereinafter Kristina). Kristina opted to purchase UIM coverage and paid the extra premium for that coverage. That policy was in good standing on the date of her husband's death. The policy provided for underinsured motorist coverage to Kristina and all resident relatives (*i.e.*, statutory insureds) as required by the South Carolina automobile insurance statute. (*Answer and Counterclaim*) However, by endorsement, the policy sought to exclude all coverage, including the portable UIM and UM coverage, for Kristina's late husband Danny Knight. (*Complaint*) Nationwide denied the widow's UIM claim. (*Complaint* at 2-3)

## **ARGUMENTS**

1. An automobile insurance policy provision that eliminates mandatory, minimum, portable UIM coverage of a statutory insured is void because it violates South Carolina public policy.

*Nationwide v. Knight* is an important public policy case because an order affirming summary judgment for Respondent will eliminate UM and UIM coverage for thousands of South Carolina families.

(Exhibit 7, Appellants' Motion for Summary Judgment) Respondent continues to use the excluded driver endorsement broadly on policies across the State. (Respondent's Answers to Interrogatories)

The statutory purpose of the automobile insurance statute is to provide that, "every automobile insurance risk which is insurable on the basis of the criteria established in this chapter is entitled to automobile insurance." S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-10. The statute directs the trial courts to "liberally construe[]" the statutory language "in order to achieve its purposes." S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-20.

This is a case about underinsured motorist insurance "portability." "[P]ortability refers to a person's ability to use his coverage on a vehicle not involved in an accident as a basis for recovery of damages sustained in the accident." *Nakatsu v. Encompass Indemnity Co.*, 390 S.C. 172, 181, 178, 700 S.E.2d 283 (2010).

The South Carolina UIM statute states as follows:

Automobile insurance carriers shall offer, at the option of the insured, uninsured motorist coverage up to the limits of the insured's liability coverage in addition to the mandatory coverage prescribed by Section 38-77-150. Such carriers *shall also offer*, at the option of the insured, underinsured motorist coverage *up to the limits of the insured liability coverage* to provide coverage in the event that damages are sustained in excess of the liability limits carried by an at-fault insured or underinsured motorist or in excess of any damages cap or limitation imposed by statute. If, however, *an insured or named insured* is protected by uninsured or underinsured motorist coverage in excess of the basic limits, the policy shall provide that

*the insured or named insured* is protected only to the extent of the coverage he has on the vehicle involved in the accident. If none of the *insured's or named insured's* vehicles is involved in the accident, coverage is available only to the extent of coverage on any one of the vehicles with the excess or underinsured coverage.

See S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-160 (emphasis added). The Legislature required the policy include UIM coverage for the "named insured" as well as "insured."

The South Carolina automobile insurance statute defines "insured" to include the insured person (or persons named in a policy) and "[w]hile resident of the same household, the spouse of any named insured and relatives of either." S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-30 (definitions). It is undisputed that Danny was Kristina's spouse. The couple was married in Anderson on December 2, 2015, after the policy was issued and about two months before the fatal motor vehicle collision. Danny and Kristina were living in the same residence on the date of Danny's fatal collision. (Exhibits 3,4, 13, and 14 attached to Appellants *Motion for Summary Judgment*)

South Carolina has a strong, remedial public policy requiring insurance companies who write automobile insurance in this State provide portable UM or UIM coverages to insureds and their families:

Our supreme court has previously explained, "uninsured motorist coverage is not to provide coverage for the uninsured vehicle but to afford additional protection to the insured." *Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Howard*, 288 S.C. 5,

12, 339 S.E.2d 501, 504 (citing *Hogan v. Home Ins. Co.*, 260 S.C. 157, 162, 194 S.E.2d 890, 892 (1973)). The court further clarified in *Hogan* that "unlike the provisions relative to liability coverage, the statute plainly affords uninsured motorist coverage to the named insured and resident relatives of his or her household *at all times and without regard to the activity* in which they were engaged at the time. *Such coverage is nowhere limited in the statute to the use of the insured vehicle.*" *Hogan*, 260 S.C. at 162, 194 S.E.2d at 892. Similarly, the statutory purpose of UIM coverage is to provide coverage in the event damages are sustained in excess of the liability limits carried by an at-fault insured or underinsured. S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-160. Thus, *our UIM statute is also remedial in nature and enacted for the benefit of injured persons. It should be construed liberally to effect the purpose intended by the legislature. See Sloan v. Greenville County*, 356 S.C. 531, 564, 590 S.E.2d 338, 356 (Ct. App.2003) (reasoning that the provisions of a code should be construed liberally if the code is remedial in nature).

Understanding that UIM coverage is a variation of UM coverage, we believe that *Hogan* indicates the legislative intent behind our UIM statute and is applicable here. In other words, under insurance, like un insurance, *is personal and portable*. "In jurisdictions where the coverage follows the person any person who enjoys the status of an insured under a motor vehicle policy of insurance which includes uninsured/underinsured coverage enjoys coverage protection simply by reason of having been injured by an uninsured/underinsured motorist." 9 Couch on Ins.3d § 123:3.

*Burgess v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 361 S.C. 196, 201-02, 603 S.E.2d 861 (S.C. App., 2004), *rev'd on other grounds*, 644 S.E.2d 40, 373 S.C. 37 (S.C., 2007).

Nationwide cannot by policy endorsement eliminate coverage of insureds that is mandated by statute. "[A]ny limiting language in an

insurance contract which has the effect of providing less protection than made obligatory by the statute is contrary to public policy and is of no force and effect." See *Ferguson v. State Farm Mut. Ins. Co.*, 261 S.C. 96, 100, 198 S.E.2d 522 (1973); see also *Nationwide Mut. Ins. v. Howard*, 288 S.C. 5, 339 S.E.2d 501 (1985). Any policy provision in Respondent's policy that limits the Legislature's mandatory portable coverage must be declared void. "A policy of automobile insurance must provide at least the minimum amount of coverage outlined in the statute, and 'a policy issued pursuant to the law which gives less protection will be interpreted by the court as supplying the protection which the legislature intended.'" *Carter v. Standard Fire Ins. Co.*, 406 S.C. 609 (2013) (quoting *Kay v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 349 S.C. 446, 450, 562 S.E.2d 676, 678 (Ct. App.2002)); *Jackson v. State Farm Mutual Auto. Ins. Co.*, 288 S.C. 335, 342 S.E.2d 603 (1986); and *Giles v. Whitaker*, 297 S.C. 267, 376 S.E.2d 278 (1989). Therefore, the minimum limits UIM coverage on this policy cannot be excluded by Respondent. Nationwide's policy endorsement language that purports to exclude it for Danny Knight must be declared void.

2. Section 38-77-340, a provision that sets forth procedures allowing automobile insurance companies to exclude liability insurance coverage to a resident relative, does not authorize them to also exclude mandatory minimum, portable UM and UIM coverages those family members.

The South Carolina Legislature permits automobile insurance companies to make policy endorsement agreements with insureds to exclude *liability* insurance coverage for resident relatives. The procedures for entering such *liability* insurance coverage exclusions are set forth in Section 38-77-340.

Notwithstanding the definition of "insured" in Section 38-77-30, the insurer and any named insured must, by the terms of a written amendatory endorsement, the form of which has been approved by the director or his designee, agree that coverage under such a *policy of liability insurance* shall not apply while the motor vehicle is being operated by a natural person designated by name.

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-340 (emphasis added). This Section only relates to *liability coverage*. However, Nationwide uses the endorsement over-broadly to exclude all coverages including mandatory, minimum, portable UM and UIM coverage.

When construing a statute, courts must determine the intent of the legislature. See *Horn v. Davis Elec. Constructors, Inc.*, 307 S.C. 559, 563, 416 S.E.2d 634, 636 (1992). The words of a statute must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand its operation. See *First Baptist Church of Mauldin v. City of Mauldin*, 308 S.C. 226, 229, 417 S.E.2d

592, 593 (1992). One principle of statutory construction is that a court must assume the legislature intended to accomplish something through an enacted statute and did not engage in futile action. See *Purvis v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 304 S.C. 283, 288, 403 S.E.2d 662, 666 (Ct. App. 1991). A statute ought to be read so that, “no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous, for the General Assembly obviously intended the statute to have some efficacy, or the legislature would not have enacted it into law.” *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cnty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011).

The Order acknowledged that Section 38-77-340 was applicable only to, “a policy of liability insurance.” However, the Court ruled that, “In this context . . . [it] must encompass all coverages provided to the policyholder because UIM coverage cannot be sold as a stand-alone policy.” (Order at 3) By lumping all coverages together, the Circuit Court overlooked the practical and public policy differences between liability coverage on the one hand, and UM and UIM coverage on the other. As shown below, the distinctions must be considered to properly analyze the statutory language. Otherwise, the language of the statute does not make sense.

Obviously, the South Carolina Legislature understood the public policy distinctions between these types of coverages and the narrowly

written statute section it enacted reflects it. The italicized phrase (“a *policy of liability insurance*”) shows that Legislature meant to limit the exclusion permitted to liability coverage only. If the Legislature meant to grant insurance companies the authorization to exclude all coverages, the statute would simply say, “a policy of insurance shall not apply.” Instead, Legislature included the limiting word “liability” after the words “policy of.” An illustration how the word “liability” adds nothing to Nationwide’s alleged interpretation of this Section follows:

*policy of ~~liability~~ insurance shall not apply*

The only logical reason the Legislature had for including the word “liability” after the words, “policy of” was to make clear that the excluded driver endorsement allowed is limited to just “liability coverage.” Otherwise, the additional word, “liability” after the words “policy of” serves no purpose. It is a nonsensical surplusage. Superfluous.

The Legislative intent to limit the allowed exclusion to just the liability insurance coverage is also indicated because the sentence also references *operation* of the insured vehicle. “[C]overage under such a policy of liability insurance shall not apply *while the motor vehicle is being operated . . . .*” S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-340 (emphasis added)

Under South Carolina public policy, liability insurance coverage follows the vehicle. UIM (and UM) coverage, on the other hand, follow the person.

UIM coverage follows the person; in others it follows the vehicle. We believe that South Carolina falls in the category where UIM coverage follows the person, as is the case with uninsured motorist ("UM") coverage.

*Burgess v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 361 S.C. 196, 201-02, 603 S.E.2d 861 (S.C. App., 2004), *rev'd on other grounds*, 644 S.E.2d 40, 373 S.C. 37 (S.C., 2007). Liability insurance coverage is the only kind of automobile insurance coverage in a policy that is implicated by the careless *operation* of a motor vehicle (using the word the Legislature included in Section 38-77-340). Thus, by limiting the "coverage" exclusion allowed to persons operating the insured vehicle, the Legislature confirmed its intent to limit the allowed exclusion to just liability insurance coverage.

The purpose of allowing insurance companies to exclude liability coverage to some drivers makes sense as a public policy. It allows an insured and an insurance company to exclude a high risk resident relative from the liability insurance coverage related to his operation of an insured vehicle. Thus, the named insured and company can set an affordable premium on the car insurance.

The purpose of this section is to "alleviate the problem often faced by the owner of a family policy, who . . . has a

relatively safe driving record but is forced to pay higher premiums because another member of the family . . . is by definition also included in the policy coverage.”

*Lincoln General v. Progressive*, 406 S.C. 534, 753 S.E.2d 437, 441

(S.C. Ct. App. 2013) (citation omitted). The primary benefit associated with excluding a driver on an automobile insurance policy relates to the liability insurance coverage risk implicated by operation of an insured vehicle by a high risk driver. On the other hand, there is little associated insurance risk of providing that same high risk driver portable UIM and UM coverage. UIM and UM coverages are only implicated when the negligence of a third party causes a collision. Therefore, no public policy purpose of reduced premiums is served by expanding Section 38-77-340 to allow exclusion of portable UM and UIM coverages.

For all of the above reasons, Nationwide’s endorsement that attempts to exclude portable UM and UIM coverages to resident relatives of their insureds is not authorized by Section 38-77-340 and violates South Carolina public policy.

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, this Court must reverse the judgment of the Circuit Court and remand the case with instructions to enter judgment in favor of Appellants.

July 11, 2017



---

Edwin L. Turnage  
HARRIS & GRAVES, P.A.  
812 Laurens Road  
Greenville, SC 29607  
(864) 235-1331

Attorney for Appellants

# The State of South Carolina In The Court of Appeals

---

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

---

Case No. 2017-001348

---

---

NATIONWIDE INSURANCE COMPANY  
OF AMERICA,

v.

KRISTINA KNIGHT, Individually and as  
Personal Representative of  
THE ESTATE OF DANIEL KNIGHT,

Respondent

**RECEIVED**

JUL 12 2017

**SC Court of Appeals**

Appellants.

---