IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001348

RECEIVED
OCT 04 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Nationwide Insurance Company of America.....Respondent

Kristina Knight, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Daniel P. Knight
.....Appellant

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Adam J. Neil, Esquire
MURPHY & GRANTLAND, P.A.
4406-B Forest Drive
Post Office Box 6648
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 782-4100
Attorneys for Respondent

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

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

ARGUMENT

By enacting S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-340, the General Assembly permitted the use of excluded driver forms in automobile insurance policies issued in the State of South Carolina. Nationwide’s excluded driver endorsement states in plain and unambiguous terms that “all coverages” in the policy are not in effect while “Danny Knight is operating

³ Although it is not necessary for Nationwide to confirm the veracity of this representation, United Financial Cas. Co. v. Bostic, 782 F. Supp. 2d 179 (D.S.C. 2011), the appellant has conceded that this was a true statement.

any motor vehicle.” (R. p. 74). The policy defines “motor vehicle” to include land motor vehicles “designed primarily to be driven on public roads.” (R. p. 99). Mr. Knight’s motorcycle was a land motor vehicle “designed primarily to be driven on public roads.” Therefore, the exclusion applies and the Nationwide policy does not extend *any* coverage – including UIM coverage – for injuries Mr. Knight sustained while operating a motor vehicle.

I. The Excluded Driver Endorsement complies with every requirement of South Carolina Code § 38-77-340.

South Carolina’s excluded driver statute allows for the exclusion of a specific person from the coverage afforded by the policy if certain directives are followed:

Notwithstanding the definition of “insured” in Section 38-77-30, the insurer and any named insured must, by the terms of a written amendatory endorsement, the form of which has been approved by the director or his designee, agree that coverage under such a policy of liability insurance shall not apply while the motor vehicle is being operated by a natural person designated by name. The agreement, when signed by the named insured, is binding upon every insured to whom the policy applies and any substitution or renewal of it. However, no natural person may be excluded unless the named insured declares in the agreement that (1) the driver’s license of the excluded person has been turned in to the Department of Motor Vehicles or (2) an appropriate policy of liability insurance or other security as may be authorized by law has been properly executed in the name of the person to be excluded.

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-340. In sum, an excluded driver form is valid and enforceable when the form has been approved by the South Carolina Department of Insurance, the endorsement names the excluded driver, and the named insured declares either that the named excluded driver has turned in his license to the DMV or the named excluded driver has an appropriate policy of liability insurance. Once these elements are satisfied – as is

the case here – “coverage under the policy shall not apply” when the excluded driver is operating any motor vehicle.

A. The South Carolina Department of Insurance approved Nationwide’s Excluded Driver Form endorsement.

The first element required for application of § 38-77-340 is that the form must be approved by the South Carolina Department of Insurance. The South Carolina Department of Insurance approved Nationwide’s use of the excluded driver endorsement (Form V-3109-A) on January 28, 2010, with an effective date of January 22, 2010. (R. pp. 123-128).⁴ Thus, Nationwide’s endorsement satisfies the first requirement of § 38-77-340.

B. The Excluded Driver Endorsement names Mr. Knight as the excluded driver, and Mrs. Knight represented on the form that Mr. Knight had an appropriate policy of liability insurance.

The excluded driver endorsement also satisfies the second and third requirements of the statute. The second requirement under § 38-77-340 is that the excluded driver endorsement name the person to be excluded. “Danny Knight” is clearly named as the “excluded person.” (R. p. 74). Lastly, § 38-77-340 requires the named insured – Mrs. Knight – to represent on the form that the excluded driver had turned in his license to the State Highway Department or obtained other appropriate insurance. Here, Mrs. Knight marked the space indicating that Mr. Knight had obtained insurance or other security to operate motor vehicles. (R. p. 74). Therefore, Nationwide’s excluded driver endorsement satisfies each of the elements of § 38-77-340.

⁴ The System for Electronic Rate and Form Filing (SERFF) is managed by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners as a method for facilitating the submission, review and approval of product filings between regulations – such as the South Carolina Department of Insurance – and insurance companies.

II. Despite Appellant's arguments to the contrary, the Excluded Driver Endorsement applies to all coverage under the policy, including Underinsured Motorist Coverage.

Knight erroneously argues that the Nationwide policy does not and cannot exclude UIM coverage because § 38-77-340 only applies to liability coverage. However, neither the statute nor the endorsement supports Mrs. Knight's position. The unambiguous endorsement applies to every coverage afforded by the policy: "With this endorsement, *all* coverages in your policy are not in effect while Danny Knight is operating *any* motor vehicle." (emphasis added). Because the endorsement clearly applies to the entire policy, the only question is whether the exclusion is authorized by the statute. Section 38-77-340 states that "a policy of liability insurance" will not be in effect when a vehicle is being driven by the excluded driver. Upon a cursory review one might conclude, as Appellant suggests, that only liability coverage can be the subject of an excluded driver endorsement. But a closer reading reveals that the statute does not refer to liability coverage; it refers to a "policy of liability insurance." As the trial court found, a "policy of liability insurance" must incorporate every single type of coverage that is part of the policy "because UIM coverage cannot be sold as a stand-alone policy." (R. p. 3). *See also* S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-160.⁵

The General Assembly established a structure for automobile insurance whereby a particular "coverage" is only a subpart of the whole policy of insurance to which the

⁵ Section 38-77-160 requires that "Such [automobile insurance] carriers shall also offer, at the option of the insured, underinsured motorist coverage up to the limits of the insured liability coverage...." Thus, UIM coverage cannot be sold separate from liability coverage because there would be no way to determine the maximum limit of allowable coverage.

specific coverage is attached. UIM coverage is one type of coverage that is attached to a broader insurance policy. The legislature chose to refer to the whole policy as a “liability policy.” This is made clear by § 56-9-20(5) which defines “Motor Vehicle Liability Policy” to include a policy with any of the coverages described in S.C. Code Ann. §§38-77-140 – 38-77-230. A variety of types of coverage are established in those code sections and UIM coverage is dealt with in § 38-77-160, which means that UIM coverage is plainly within the scope of a “Motor Vehicle Liability Policy.” Thus, the legislature has demonstrated that “liability policy” refers to the complete automobile insurance policy regardless of which type of coverage is implicated in a particular claim.

Second, in arguing against the application of Nationwide’s endorsement, Mrs. Knight contends that it does not apply because Mr. Knight was a statutory insured, i.e. her resident relative. Mrs. Knight essentially claims the endorsement cannot apply to coverage required by statute.⁶ However, this Court already addressed the application of an excluded driver endorsement to mandatory coverage in *Lincoln General Ins. Co. v. Progressive Northern Ins. Co.*, 406 S.C. 534, 753 S.E.2d 437 (Ct. App. 2013), and held the exclusion applies to all coverage under the policy, even when that coverage is mandated by statute.

⁶ Of course, UIM coverage is not mandatory despite Appellant’s efforts to convert “personal and portable” coverage into statutorily mandated coverage. Appellant erroneously cites to this Court’s decision in *Burgess v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 361 S.C. 196, 603 S.E.2d 861 (Ct. App. 2004), *rev’d*, 373 S.C. 37, 644 S.E.2d 40 (2007). While the *Burgess* opinion notes that uninsured coverage is mandatory and favorably compares treatment of uninsured coverage to that of UIM coverage for some purposes, the opinion does not override §38-77-160, which makes UIM coverage optional at the request of the insured.

The named insured in *Lincoln General* – like Mrs. Knight here – identified her husband as an excluded driver under the policy and executed an excluded driver endorsement. *Id.* at 537, 753 S.E.2d at 438-39. Later, the husband was driving an insured vehicle when he caused an accident. *Id.* Progressive relied on the endorsement and denied liability coverage to the husband. The plaintiff⁷ claimed Progressive’s excluded driver endorsement could not operate as a bar against collection of the statutorily required minimum limits of liability coverage. *Id.* at 538, 753 S.E.2d at 439. The trial court agreed, and granted Lincoln General’s motion for summary judgment. *Id.*

This Court reversed and rejected the argument that an excluded driver endorsement could not exclude statutorily required coverage: “Here, Progressive is not required to provide minimum limits. The named driver endorsement statute says that, ‘[n]otwithstanding the definition of ‘insured’ in Section 38-77-30, ... *a policy of liability insurance shall not apply*’ when the named driver is operating the vehicle.” *Id.* at 541, 753 S.E.2d at 441 (emphasis in original). Therefore, “an insurer’s obligation to provide minimum limits for ‘insureds’ *is inapplicable* when the person named in the endorsement is driving and the statute’s remaining requirements are satisfied.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

Just like Progressive’s exclusion, Nationwide’s excluded driver endorsement follows the language of the statute. “[A]ll coverages in your policy are not in effect while Danny Knight is operating any motor vehicle.” (R. p. 74). Because Knight was operating a motor vehicle at the time of the accident, the policy was not in effect when the accident

⁷ In that case the plaintiff, Lincoln General, was the uninsured motorist coverage provider of the people injured in the accident. Lincoln General sued Progressive claiming subrogation rights and asserted that the excluded driver endorsement was invalid under the facts at issue in that case.

occurred. Knight's estate cannot collect UIM benefits from a policy that was not in effect at the time of the accident. Therefore, Nationwide was entitled to summary judgment in its favor and the trial court's order should be affirmed.

III. Allowing Mr. Knight's estate to collect UIM coverage from a policy in which he is excluded from liability coverage violates the public policy of South Carolina.

Contrary to Appellant's argument, the public policy of South Carolina does not favor the disregard of Nationwide's unambiguous endorsement in this context. In fact, if the Court allows the Knight Estate to collect UIM coverage from Nationwide, the Court would permit an inequity that South Carolina insurance law does not support.

South Carolina adopted the Motor Vehicle Financial Responsibility Act for the purpose of mandating financial protection to injured third-parties. As the Supreme Court stated in *Factory Mut. Liab. Ins. Co. of Am. v. Kennedy*, 256 S.C. 376, 380, 182 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1971), liability insurance not only affords protection to the insured motorists,

it serves the public purpose of affording protection to innocent victims of motor vehicle accidents. In recognition of this important public purpose, the legislatures of some states have enacted compulsory liability insurance laws. Others, including our General Assembly, have sought protection for highway victims, short of compulsory insurance, by the enactment of financial responsibility and uninsured motorist statutes.

Id. at 380, 182 S.E.2d at 729. The General Assembly also made it clear in §38-77-160 that South Carolina's drivers should not be allowed to protect themselves with UIM coverage in an amount greater than the liability coverage purchased to protect the general public. This statute mandates that UIM coverage can only be purchased "up to the limits of the insured liability coverage...." If Knight's Estate is allowed to collect UIM coverage from

a policy where he is not afforded liability coverage, this important public policy is thwarted because Knight is protected from accidental injuries he may sustain but he has not protected the public to the same extent – or even at all.

In fact, the Supreme Court has already opined that allowing the excluded driver endorsement is to “alleviate the problem often faced by the owner of a family policy, who ... has a relatively safe driving record but is forced to pay higher premiums because another member of the family ... is by definition also included in the policy coverage.” *Lovette v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 274 S.C. 597, 600, 266 S.E.2d 782, 783 (1980) (internal quotation marks omitted) (discussing predecessor statute). Allowing a policyholder to insure her family members for UIM coverage when she is unwilling to insure the public against her family’s potential for poor driving is certainly not what the Supreme Court or the legislature envisioned. Following the position endorsed by Knight would lead to absurd results when compared to the aforementioned statutory policies.

For example, a father might insure himself for liability coverage, but exclude the rest of his driving family from liability coverage to save the premium expense. However, under Appellant’s position, all of his excluded family members would still have coverage for themselves via uninsured or underinsured motorist coverage. Thus, they have effectively insured themselves with more coverage than they provide for the general public. This position is not justifiable in light of the State’s public policy which allows for the protection of self only to the extent you also protect the community. In fact, Appellant’s position actually harms the public interest by incentivizing the exclusion of drivers to create lower premiums, while still affording them first-party insurance benefits.

To the extent that Appellant's "personal and portable" argument is based on the expressions of public policy about that topic, the argument is a distortion of the policy in light of the overall purpose of the MVFRA statutory scheme. Appellant's argument is also contrary to the language of S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-340 and the explicit finding of this Court concerning the policy behind that statute. First, the personal and portable nature of UIM coverage applies only to those who are actually insured by the policy. Appellant argues that Mr. Knight is an insured because he was Mrs. Knight's resident spouse. But for the excluded driver endorsement this would be a true statement. However, Appellant's argument fails because the endorsement modifies the statutory definition of "insured." S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-340 ("Notwithstanding the definition of "insured" in Section 38-77-30...."). This Court recognized that the legislature allows a policyholder and an insurance company to modify the definition of "insured" in this context by agreement.

Thus, "the legislative expression of the public policy of the State as revealed in the various motor vehicle insurance statutes" specifies that an insurer's obligation to provide minimum limits for "insureds" is inapplicable when the person named in the endorsement is driving and the statute's remaining requirements are satisfied. Because the policy is not in effect when the named driver is operating the vehicle and such an endorsement is part of our state's public policy, the MVFRA's mandate that "[t]he liability of the insurance carrier with respect to the insurance required by this chapter shall become absolute whenever injury or damage covered by the motor vehicle liability policy occurs" does not apply.

Lincoln General, 406 S.C. at 541, 753 S.E.2d at 441.⁸ Again, when a policyholder can

⁸ Nationwide respectfully contends that this Court's opinion in *Burgess* is not persuasive authority because it was reversed by the Supreme Court. However, to the extent that the logic in that decision remains influential, this Court found that the personal and portable coverage is only available to a "person who enjoys the status of an insured under a motor vehicle policy of insurance...." *Burgess*, 361 S.C. at 202, 603 S.E.2d at 865. Because Mrs.